36
x

IN THE SUPREME COURT,
IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,452
Fourth District Court of Ap-
peal, Case No. 83-422

SID...
SEP 17 1985
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By: Chief Deputy Clerk

PALM BEACH NEWSPAPERS, INC.; :
THE MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING :
COMPANY; and NEWS AND SUN- :
SENTINEL COMPANY, :
:

Petitioners, :
:

vs. :
:

THE HONORABLE RICHARD BRYAN :
BURK; LINDA AURILIO; and :
STATE OF FLORIDA, :
:

Respondents. :
:

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER,
NEWS AND SUN-SENTINEL COMPANY, ON THE MERITS

Ray Ferrero, Jr., Esquire
Wilton L. Strickland, Esquire
Ricki Tannen, Esquire
FERRERO, MIDDLEBROOKS, STRICK-
LAND AND FISCHER, P.A.
Attorneys for Petitioner, NEWS
AND SUN-SENTINEL COMPANY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant/Petitioner, NEWS AND SUN-SENTINEL COMPANY, is before this Honorable Court for review of an Opinion filed on June 11, 1985, by the Fourth District Court of Appeal (A.521), on Emergency Petition to Review Order Limiting Media Access filed by PALM BEACH NEWSPAPERS, INC. (hereinafter "PBN"), NEWS AND SUN-SENTINEL COMPANY (hereinafter "NSS") and MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING COMPANY (hereinafter "MHPC") (hereinafer collectively "Appellants" or "Petitioners"). (A.383). The Emergency Petition for Review sought review of an Order rendered on February 28, 1983, by the Appellee/ Respondent, HONORABLE RICHARD BRYAN BURK (hereinafer "JUDGE BURK") (A.380), which prohibited the press and public from attending depositions or gaining access to transcripts of pretrial depositions in the case of State of Florida v. Linda J. Aurilio, Case No. 82-5858 CF T, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida.^{1/}

^{1/} Pertinent portions of the record before the Fourth District Court of Appeal have been included in an Appendix to this Brief. Also included in the Appendix are the appellate briefs filed in the direct appeal from the criminal case, Aurilio v. State, Fourth District Court of Appeal, Case No. 83-1823. This Court may take judicial notice of those briefs, Section 90.202(6), Florida Statutes (1983); Kelley v. Kelley, 75 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1954); and the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court do so. References to the Appendix will be made by the notation "A" preceding the respective page number.

The instant appeal arises from the prosecution of LINDA J. AURILIO (hereinafter "Defendant AURILIO"), who was charged with attempted murder of her husband, CARL AURILIO. (A.137). The Defendant was the key police informant (A.317) whose information led to the arrest and conviction of eight (8) members of an organized crime connected bookmaking ring operating in Palm Beach County. The Defendant's husband was a principal figure in the bookmaking operation and was one (1) of the eight (8) individuals arrested and convicted. (A.279).

On December 1, 1982, the State of Florida filed a Motion for Protective Order to close the depositions scheduled in the Aurilio matter. (A.1). On December 2, 1982, NSS filed a Motion for Limited Intervention to Oppose Closure (A.3) and Response of Press Intervenor's Motion for Protective Order. (A.5). A hearing was held on December 2, 1982, in front of the Honorable Edward Rogers, in the Circuit Court for Palm Beach County, Florida. (A.24). At the December 2, 1982, hearing, counsel for Defendant AURILIO stated that they did not have any objection to the State's Motion for Protective Order but were not joining in the State's Motion to Exclude the press from the scheduled depositions. (A.45).

Judge Rogers, in an Order entered on December 8, 1982 (A.58), denied the State's Motion to Exclude the media from scheduled depositions.

On January 14, 1983, Defendant AURILIO moved to determine her Sixth Amendment rights and for determination of status of the transcripts of depositions. (A.59). A hearing was held in front of Judge Rogers on January 17, 1983 (A.63), and the Order of January 18, 1983 (A.113), held that:

[O]f course, the media must be allowed to attend, the Court-ordered depositions or depositions held in the public facilities of the Palm Beach County courthouse. In order to further protect the record however, the court is going to prohibit the destruction or editing of any depositions taken, without order of the court. It is thereupon Ordered:

1. The defendant and the State Attorney's Office will not be required to notify the News Media of its intent to take statements, either under oath or not under oath, where Judicial process is not involved, other than issuing a subpoena.

2. IT IS FURTHER ORDER: that the State and Defense is prohibited from destroying depositions taken and typed up in this case without further order of this Court.

3. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED: that where notice of depositions are required to be filed and are filed, they must be taken in a place which will admit access to the public and the press.

On February 9, 1983, NSS filed its Motion to Oppose Closure and Obtain Access to Public Records (A.115) and Press Intervenor's Motion to Open Access to Pretrial Depositions and to Order Production of Public Records, (A.117) seeking access to all

future depositions as well as the transcripts of all depositions taken up to that time.

JUDGE BURK held a hearing on February 10, 1983, on NSS's Motion for Limited Intervention to Oppose Closure and Obtain Access to public records and Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (A.121). At the February 10th hearing, the State and Defendant AURILIO argued that limited intervention had been granted by Judge Rogers only for the purpose of the previous Motion to Oppose Closure. Counsel for NSS argued that Judge Rogers had not addressed the Motion that was under consideration, specifically the Motion to Open Access to Pretrial Depositions and to Order Production of Public Records.

At the February 10, 1983, hearing, JUDGE BURK outlined the procedures which he wanted implemented (A.207), specifically, that no press was to be present at the depositions (A.207) and that depositions are not judicial proceedings. (A.216; 238).

However, JUDGE BURK ordered Defendant AURILIO and the State to file all of the depositions taken in the matter up to that time and to designate any portions of those depositions they felt should remain secret. The designated portions of the transcripts were to be reviewed by JUDGE BURK in camera to determine whether they should be released to the public. (A.207-08; 218).

Additionally, JUDGE BURK denied the Defendant AURILIO's and State's Motion to Dismiss. He further ordered that each

scheduled deposition should be transcribed within forty-eight (48) hours and that the State and Defendant AURILIO would then have the opportunity to designate those portions which the court should review in camera to determine whether public release would occur. In the absence of objections from either the State or Defendant AURILIO, the court reporter will be instructed to make the depositions available to the press. The Order further held that the list of those already deposed was to be furnished by the State and Defendant AURILIO to counsel for NSS. (A.219). Notices of all future depositions were to be filed with the court. (A.219-220).

JUDGE BURK ended the hearing with the request that NSS not appeal the ruling:

[I] made my request that he is not going to appeal, but I cannot hold him to that.

What we are trying to do is resolve this matter as amicably as we can. I recognize that he might want to take that one question on appeal.

(A.222).

Counsel for NSS refused to waive his right to appeal, pursuant to instructions from his client:

[I] wanted to make sure, I didn't want to mislead the Court. I am not agreeing to anything. I am simply accepting the Court's ruling, trying to work it out, accepting the ruling of the Court, and reserving to myself the option of appeal or not, after consulting with my clients. That is all.

(A.223-224).

On February 15, 1983, PBN filed its Motion to Intervene and Motion to Reconsider JUDGE BURK's ruling of February 10, 1983. (A.334). On February 25, 1983, hearings were held on PBN's Motion to Reconsider before JUDGE BURK. Counsel for NSS attended the hearing and joined in PBN's Motion. (A.226). Counsel for PBN argued the public's interest in the information contained in the depositions; specifically, he argued that:

[a]s a result of a statement that she made, a libel action had been filed against my client because she made the statement that several law enforcement officials in this country, including the police, were on the take.^{2/}

I do know that that is important information about the citizens' government, and I know that the people have a high interest in it. That is why my client has covered it and that is why it gets prominent treatment in the newspaper everyday.

I think it is important that if important issues about all those issues is coming out in these depositions, that the people of this country know about it. And they may never know about it, as I pointed out in my Memorandum, if they can't get access to these depositions because this case may never go to trial

(A.242-243).

^{2/} The lawsuit to which counsel for the PBN is referring is Jamason v. Palm Beach Newspapers, discussed infra at 24.

As to those depositions already taken, JUDGE BURK held that he would consider them in camera, "I am still willing to allow those depositions to be filed in the public interest." (A.276).

Finally, JUDGE BURK ruled that:

[d]epositions are not judicial proceedings and, therefore, it is my determination that inasmuch as they are not judicial proceedings, and ... there is no right of access by either the public in persona, or through the media to be at the taking of those depositions.

(A.276).

On June 11, 1985, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered its Opinion en banc affirming the lower court's Order of February 28, 1985. (A.380). In its decision, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not discuss or provide a description of the underlying criminal action which prompted the media's desire to attend the depositions in State of Florida v. Linda J. Aurilio. The circumstances surrounding the media's desire to attend these depositions was purely in the public's interest. Defendant AURILIO had, in sworn statements to the State Attorney of Palm Beach County (A.296), provided information about gambling, organized crime and, most important to the public's interest, police corruption in Palm Beach County, Florida.

The State Attorney used Defendant AURILIO's sworn statement to secure wiretaps and search warrants (A.296), which led to the indictments of ten (10) members of an alleged bookmaking

operation. It is in this context that the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which denied the media's access to the deposition testimony, must be viewed.

However, the Fourth District Court of Appeal specifically acknowledged the right of the media to have access to: (a) filed depositions because they then become part of the official court records; and (b) the trial, plus pretrial and post trial proceedings, conducted by or before a judge.

On its own Motion, the Fourth District Court of Appeal also certified to the Florida Supreme Court, pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(v), the following as questions of great public importance:

1. Is the Press entitled to notice and the opportunity and the right to attend pre-trial discovery depositions in a criminal case?
2. Is the Press entitled to access to pretrial discovery depositions in a criminal case which may or may not have been transcribed but which have not been filed with the clerk of court or the judge?

There were five (5) separate Opinions filed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal: the majority Opinion with three (3) concurrences; one (1) special concurring Opinion; two (2) dissenting Opinions with two (2) concurrences each; and one (1) dissenting Opinion with one (1) concurrence.

On July 10, 1985, Petitioners filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction to the Supreme Court of Florida,

pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2), as
the Fourth District Court of Appeal's Opinion in Burk:

(a) expressly and directly conflicts with a
decision of the Second District Court of
Appeals on the same question of law; and

(b) it expressly construes the First Amend-
ment of the United States Constitution.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's Opinion in Burk should be overruled based upon the following arguments.

First, in the legal system of the United States, the public interest is served by the role of government prosecutor. The public has a right of access to the pretrial proceedings, including depositions, as an overwhelming majority of criminal prosecutions are resolved during the pretrial stage.

Second, Criminal proceedings in the United States, both under the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure and the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, have a presumption of openness. This presumption is rebuttable only upon the requisites of the accepted three (3) part test for closure being fully met. This three (3) part test has been used in a variety of pretrial, trial and post trial proceedings.

Third, depositions, in civil and criminal cases, have been held by the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal to have the status of judicial proceedings.

Finally, the basic aim of the First Amendment is free and open discussion of matters of public interest. Every judicial opinion which construes the First Amendment must use - free and open discussion - as its polestar. This is especially true in the criminal case setting, for criminal actions

are overwhelmingly decided not by public trials, but during the pretrial stage. Public knowledge therefore becomes absolutely necessary for a meaningful understanding of the criminal justice system.

ARGUMENT

THE PRESS HAS A RIGHT OF ACCESS TO PRETRIAL
DEPOSITIONS IN A CRIMINAL CASE.

Criminal matters are presumed open until the requirements for closure have been met. This basic tenet is bottomed upon the recognition that "a crime is a wrong which the government deems injurious to the public at large and punishes through a judicial proceeding in its own name." 14 Fla. Jur.2d 67, Section 5. The public nature of criminal matters is paramount.

This distinction is crucial for the resolution of the case before this Court, for the press, as a surrogate for the public interest, cannot be barred from those pretrial proceedings which, in an overwhelming percentage of criminal matters, through plea bargaining, provide the basis for disposition of a case before trial.

The argument is not being made that there can be no closure of pretrial proceedings in criminal cases -- but that all pretrial proceedings, including depositions in criminal cases, must follow the three (3) pronged test established for such closure by this Court in Miami Herald v. Lewis:

1. Closure is necessary to prevent a serious and imminent threat to the administration of justice;

2. No alternatives are available, other than change of venue, which would protect a defendant's right to a fair trial; and

3. Closure would be effective in protecting the rights of the accused, without being broader than necessary to accomplish this purpose.

426 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982).

If, as the United States Supreme Court has stated, eighty-five (85%) percent of all criminal charges are resolved pretrial, Gannett v. de Pasquale, 443 U.S. 368 (1979), then access to pretrial proceedings "promotes free discussion of governmental affairs by imparting a more complete understanding to the public of the judicial system." Lewis, supra, quoting from Mills v. Alabama, 384 U.S. 214 (1966):

[S]uch access gives the assurance that the proceedings were conducted fairly to all concerned Finally, because participating lawyers, witnesses and judges know their conduct will be subject to public scrutiny, it is fair to conclude that they will be more conscientious in the performance of their roles. (citations omitted).

Access to pretrial proceedings in criminal cases have been consistently expanded in recent years and now include voir dire examinations, Press-Enterprises v. Riverside County Superior Court, 104 S.Ct. 819 (1984); pre and post trial hearings, Newman v. Graddick, 696 F.2d 796 (11th Cir. 1983); pretrial detention hearings, U.S. v. Edwards, 430 A.2d 1321 (D.C., D.C. 1981); and

pretrial criminal proceedings, Ocala Star Banner Corp. v. Sturgis, 388 So.2d 1367 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

There are no discernable public policy reasons to allow the public access to pretrial criminal proceedings and then limit that access to only certain proceedings. The basis of the decisions which have expanded the public's access, generally in criminal proceedings, have their primary focus on whether public access to the proceedings in questions serves the same purpose as access to trials. U.S. v. Edwards, supra, cert. denied, 102 S.Ct. 1721 (1982). With the overwhelming majority of criminal cases resolved during the pretrial stage, many before formal hearings are instituted, public access to such proceedings as depositions does serve the same purpose as access to the trial itself.

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Burk does not articulate a fundamental distinction between pretrial depositions and access to other pretrial, trial and post trial proceedings but focuses instead upon the procedural device of filing a deposition with the court, "we note that the trigger device is the act of filing. Thus, conversely, we hold that no right of access accrues until there is a 'filing.'" (A.521).

This is a distinction without resort to the underlying principles which presume that criminal proceedings are open. As was stated by Judge Anstead in his dissent in Burk:

[I]t is the public's right of access to the information that is crucial, not the particular form or container in which the information may be found.

Similarly, I cannot accept the totally technical and semantical distinction made by the majority between the right of access to a deposition transcribed and filed, a decision presumably made solely at the discretion of the lawyers involved, and a deposition taken but not transcribed. Again, it is the public's right to access to the information disclosed at the deposition that should be determinative. That determination should not be left to the unbridled discretion of the lawyers, either of whom presumably could order transcription without the permission of the other or court order. Hence, poof!, 'secret' information is transformed into 'public' information. (emphasis supplied).

THE FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE PRESUME THAT PRETRIAL DISCOVERY BE OPEN.

The Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure give rise to a presumption of openness for pretrial discovery.

Discovery depositions in criminal cases are governed by Rule 3.220(d), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, which states that:

... the procedure for taking such deposition ... shall be the same as that provided in the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 1.280(c)(5), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, authorizes a trial court for "good cause shown to order that the

discovery be conducted with no one present except persons designated by the court." (emphasis supplied).

The presumption therefore is that unless good cause is shown for limiting a deposition, the deposition is open.

Aside from the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal in Short v. Gaylord, 462 So.2d 591 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), there would seem to be limited authority within Florida jurisprudence to bolster the presumption of an openness argument other than resort to the rules themselves. However, authority for the presumption of openness rules is available a fortiori to federal case law. This approach, by analogy, has been specifically endorsed by this Court.

In Moore v. State, 452 So.2d 559 (Fla. 1984), this Court was called upon to interpret the Florida Evidence Code, Section 90.801(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1981). In its analysis of the intent of Section 90.801(2)(a), this Court noted that it was "inspired in part by Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(1)" and:

[B]ecause section 90.801(2)(a) was patterned after Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(1), we should construe the former in accordance with federal court decisions interpreting the latter. See e.g., Hightower v. Bigorney, 156 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1963). (emphasis supplied).

See, also: Crump v. Goldhouse Restaurants, 96 So.2d 215, 218 (Fla. 1957) ("Since Rule 1.35 is almost identical with Rule 41 of the Federal Rules, 28 U.S.C.A., and was patterned thereafter, the

federal court decisions interpreting their rule are persuasive here.")

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Orlando Sports Stadium, Inc. v. Sentinel Star Co., 316 So.2d 607 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), also strongly supports resort to federal decisions in the absence of Florida authority on point:

[S]ince our Rules of Civil Procedure are patterned very closely after the Federal rules, and it has been the practice of the Florida courts closely to examine and analyze the Federal decisions and commentaries under the Federal rules in interpreting ours we turn, in the absence of a Federal decision, to Moore's Federal Practice, 2nd Edition (emphasis supplied). (footnote omitted).

Sentinel Star, supra, at 611.

In Sentinel Star, the Fourth District Court of Appeal resorted to the general treatise of Moore's Federal Practice, 2d Ed., for its authority.

However, federal case law, which is closely analagous to the case before this Court, is available for authority.

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