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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I: There is no constitutional basis for any public right of access to attend discovery depositions in criminal cases. Any common law right of access to judicial proceedings and court records extends only to matters which have been filed with the court and on which a judicial decision is made.

Depositions are not judicial proceedings and therefore no public right of access pertains. Constitutional analyses utilized by the United States Supreme Court to find a right of access to attend criminal trials, jury selection proceedings and a defendant's motion to suppress hearing where the defendant wanted the press present, are not applicable to discovery proceedings where no judge is present and no legal claims are made nor adjudicated. There is no history of open public access to attend discovery depositions in criminal cases and petitioners' claimed history of such is inaccurate and unreliable. The United States Supreme Court has made it plain that depositions and discovery are not public components of a trial and that depositions are not public sources of information. Nor do any governmental operations or functions take place in discovery proceedings.

Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(c)(5) does not grant the public a right of access to attend discovery depositions. Cases cited by petitioners regarding the public nature of discovery refer to Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(c)(7) and do not discuss a public's right to attend the taking of a deposition; other federal cases on point

have considered this specific question and found no right of the public to attend or a right of access to discovery material not filed with the court or used at trial.

The federal rules are significantly different than the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure so petitioners' "off-point" cases regarding interpretation of the federal rules cannot control in any event. Petitioners' reference to legislative intent of the drafters of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is overstated.

The criminal justice system operates under a presumption that the court shall not sanction dissemination of the state witness' statement to the press and public until the case is tried in the courtroom.

Point II: The court rules control what documents may become court records. The amended court rule prohibits filing of depositions unless the contents must be considered by the court on a matter pending before the court. A rule that depositions are not court records until filed is constitutionally sound. The rules of court and common law right of access to judicial records do not give the public a right of access to stenographic tapes of a court reporter, which must be securely kept by the court reporter. A transcript may only be provided to a deponent or a party.

An issue of access under the Public Records Law is not properly preserved for consideration by this Court. In any event, Chapter 119 cannot constitutionally be applied to the

judicial branch of government. Also, depositions in criminal cases contain active criminal investigative information and are therefore exempt from the Public Records Law until the prosecution and/or appeal have terminated.

A court's "commitment to open government" is not a rule of law and does not command press access to attend the taking of discovery deposition or to transcripts of depositions not filed with the court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PRESS IS NOT ENTITLED TO NOTICE AND THE OPPORTUNITY AND RIGHT TO ATTEND PRETRIAL DISCOVERY DEPOSITIONS IN A CRIMINAL CASE.

Even the issue before this Court is disputed. Petitioners have misstated the certified question and the issue that was decided by the district court. The first certified question asks if the press is entitled to notice and the opportunity and right to attend pretrial discovery depositions in a criminal case (PA-534), Palm Beach Newspapers v. Burk, 471 So.2d 571, 579 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). The press prefers to restate the question and complain of "arbitrary exclusion" and "closure" without any showing that the taking of a defendant's discovery depositions in a criminal case are public proceedings in Florida. Starting from a "presumption of openness" may ease the burden of the press to demonstrate by competent legal authority that the public should enjoy a right of access to attend the taking of discovery depositions, but it obviously begs the question and is clearly erroneous.

In the district court petitioner sought to establish their "right" of access to the taking of the defendant's discovery depositions on constitutional grounds, the First, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Article I, Sections 1, 4, 9 and 21 of the Florida Constitution, by

Florida common law policy of open government or by "broad public policy." (PA-388,398). Nowhere in its Petition for Review in the district court did the Press assert that any access rights were established by Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(c) (5).¹ Furthermore, the petitioners did not present nor argue to the district court and the circuit court made no ruling on any issue pertaining to the Public Records Act, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. Plainly, the press should not fault the "Burk majority" for disregarding the "authority" of this civil rule (Herald's Brief at 6) nor claim that the decision "inexplicably makes no reference at all" to the Public Records Law (P.B. Newspaper's Brief at 12), when petitioners completely omitted to mention these authorities to the district court.

There is no constitutional basis for any public right of access to attend discovery depositions in criminal cases and any common law right of access to judicial proceedings and court records extend only to materials which have been filed with the court or on which a judicial decision is based. Not even those judges of the Fourth District Court of Appeal who dissented to

Although the Herald referred to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.280(c) at page 15 in its Reply Memorandum served March 10, 1983, the Herald in no way claimed that 1.280(c)(5) established a presumed right of access, that all the public was entitled to attend depositions unless the court issued a protective order under 1.280(c)(5). This is the argument that the Herald presents here at great length (Herald-3-22). The Herald's mention of Rule 1.280(c) was made in its Reply Memorandum to support its argument that "judicial 'presence' at depositions, while not immediate, is pervasive" (Respondent's Appendix-15), i.e. to support the Herald's argument that depositions are "judicial proceedings."

the decision below found any constitutional right of press or public access to attend the taking of a defendant's discovery deposition (PA-17,22,24), Palm Beach Newspapers v. Burk at 581,583,584. Furthermore, Short v. Gaylord, 462 So.2d 591 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), recognized that the United States Supreme Court held in Seattle Times Co. v. Rhinehart, ____U.S.____, 104 S.Ct. 2199, 81 L.Ed.2d 17 (1984), that pretrial depositions "are not public components of court proceedings." Accordingly, the Second District found no First Amendment right of the press to attend and report on depositions. 462 So.2d at 592. Also, the Third District adopted the holding of the district court in the instant case in Post-Newsweek Stations et.al. v. Honorable Robert Newman et.al., 10 F.L.W. 1879 (Fla. 3d DCA August 5, 1984).

Clearly, neither the First nor the Sixth Amendment grant the public any right of access to a defense attorney's office to sit in on his pretrial preparations through discovery depositions. The public's common law right of access to attend trials and pretrial hearings before the judge extends only to the adjudicatory stage of litigation where judicial decisions are made, i.e. "judicial proceedings." There is no constitutional right of access to discovery materials not used at trial. Tavoulareas v. Washington Post Co., 724 F.2d 1010 at 1016 (D.C.Cir. 1984), vacated and remanded at 737 F.2d 1170 (D.C.Cir. 1984), for further consideration in light of Seattle Times Co. v. Rhinehart. The common law right of access extends only to materials on which

a judicial decision is based. Wilk v. American Medical Association, 635 F.2d 1295 (7th Cir. 1981) at 1299, footnote 7. See also Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 529 F.Supp. 866 (E.D. PA 1981), which reviews the common law right of access to "judicial records" and find that the right attaches, presumptively to: (1) material filed with the court, unless filed under seal pursuant to court order, (2) transcripts of open court proceedings and portions of documents read in open court even if filed under seal; (3) material that is the subject of an evidentiary hearing before the court, even if the original is sealed; (4) material referred to at a hearing to the extent that the reference is more specific than general; and (5) material filed under seal that has become the subject of a dispositive ruling and published opinion. 529 F.Supp. at 895-901. The rationale behind this common law right of access to judicial records is that courts have an obligation to explain their decisions and therefore an obligation to allow the public an opportunity to assess the correctness of these rulings. No such obligation of access pertains to depositions where no judicial decisions are made.

The district court's decision rested in part on the determination that depositions are not "judicial proceedings", <u>Burk</u> at 575. The court below discussed the controlling authority which distinguishes judicial proceedings in open court from discovery proceedings and noted authority from the United States Supreme Court that depositions and interrogatories are not traditionally

public sources of information and are not public components of a civil trial. <u>Id.</u> at 574-576, discussing <u>Gannett Co. v. DePasquale</u>, 443 U.S. 368, 99 S.Ct. 2898, 61 L.Ed.2d 608 (1979); <u>Tallahassee Democrat v. Willis</u>, 370 So.2d 867 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); <u>United States v. Gurney</u>, 558 F.2d 1202 (5th Cir. 1977); <u>Seattle Times Co. v. Rhinehart, supra</u>; <u>Ft. Myers Broadcasting Co. v. Nelson</u>, 460 So.2d 420 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

The distinction between discovery proceedings and "judicial proceedings" is important, for in State ex.rel Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. McIntosh, 340 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1977), this Court recognized that "the public and press have a right to know what goes on in the courtroom." Accordingly, the press has a right of access to "judicial proceedings" which cannot be denied absent procedural and substantive due process. Id. at 908. The district court determined that the three-prong test of Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), was not applicable to discovery proceedings because the taking of a deposition is not a judicial proceeding. Burk at 589. Notice of hearing, with a resulting need to balance the rights of the press and parties to litigation after a hearing, is required only when the court decides to close or deny access to a proceeding at which the press is entitled to be present. Palm Beach Newspapers v. Harper, 417 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Nor is notice to the court file of the time and place of taking a deposition required. Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.300(c).

The petitioners' claim that "excluding the public from criminal depositions" will violate the public's First Amendment right of access to criminal proceedings (Herald-23-40, Palm Beach News-17-44, Sun Sentinel-25, Amicus-passim). The media's interest in the defendant's discovery depositions cannot be bootstrapped into a First Amendment right to attend where historically, the press has not attended depositions in criminal cases. Petitioners forget that it has been held that the First Amendment does not quarantee the press a constitutional right of special access to information not available to the public generally. Zemel v. Rusk, 381 U.S. 1, 85 S.Ct. 1271, 14 L.Ed.2d Petitioners' claimed history of open access to 179 (1969). attend depositions starts with Judge Cowart's supposedly allowing their presence at pretrial depositions in the prosecution of State v. Bundy from the Second Judicial Circuit, tried upon a change of venue to the Eleventh Judicial Circuit due to extensive, prejudicial, pretrial publicity. State v. Bundy, 4 Media Law Reporter 2629 (Fla. 11th Cir. 1979). Almost simultaneous, in a separate murder prosecution of the same defendant from the Third Judicial Circuit, Judge Jopling ruled that discovery depositions were not judicial proceedings and that the press did not have the right to attend the taking of Mr. Bundy's discovery depositions. (See Respondent's Appendix-35-41). This lack of any uniform history of access to attend depositions has constitutional significance.

In Branzburg v. Hayes, 408 U.S. 665, 92 S.Ct. 2646, 33 L.Ed.2d 626 (1972), the Court refused to provide a First Amendment reporter's privilege even though the media insisted that such would undermine the freedom of the press to collect and disseminate news. The Court there observed that impediments to the freedom of the press from a failure to provide such a First Amendment right was "not the lesson history teaches us." Id. at Since no such privilege was recognized at common law and had never even been asserted as a constitutional argument until 1958, the Court found that the long history of the press' operating without such a constitutional privilege undercut any claim that such a constitutional rule was necessary. Likewise, in the present case, since there exists no history of routine media attendance at the taking of a defendant's discovery deposition in criminal cases, the lack of any history to support such a public right of access militates against the establishment of a right of access which has not heretofore existed.

Palm Beach Newspapers insists that the United States Supreme Court has recognized a First Amendment right of access to "information about government" by the decisions in Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia, 448 U.S. 555, 100 S.Ct. 2814, 65 L.Ed.2d 973 (1980), Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court, 457 U.S. 596, 103 S.Ct. 2613, 73 L.Ed.2d 248 (1982), and Pressenterprise, Inc. v. Superior Court, 464 U.S. 501, 104 S.Ct. 819, 78 L.Ed.2d 629 (1984) (Palm Beach Newspapers-23-26). In a similar argument, the Herald claims these cases establish a First

Amendment right of access to "governmental" or "criminal" proceedings (Herald-24-25). These cases do indeed establish that the press and public have a qualified constitutional right to attend criminal trials and that jury selection is an integral part of the criminal trial, but none of these cases allow for a press right of access to report on the defendant's pretrial preparations in discovery where no governmental or police conduct is challenged nor any judicial decision is made. The two features of the criminal justice system that explained the right of access to criminal trials are first, that the criminal trial including the voir dire has historically been open, both here and in England, for many centuries and that criminal trials play a significant role in the functioning of the judicial process and the government as a whole. Globe Newspaper, supra at 256.

This constitutional analysis employed by the Supreme Court to find a public right of access to attend judicial or adjudicatory proceedings in open court has not and cannot be extended to the discovery process utilized by lawyers to facilitate orderly preparation for trial. The major difference between pretrial discovery, where raw information is gathered, and judicial proceedings, where claims are brought and judicial decisions made, has been examined by the United States Supreme Court in Gannett Co. v. DePasquale, supra and Seattle Times Co. v. Rhinehart, supra. In these cases, the court referred to the history of pretrial depositions and interrogatories and determined that such proceedings were not open to the public at common

Gannett v. DePasquale, 443 U.S. at 396, Justice Berger law. concurring, Seattle Times, 104 S.Ct. at 2207-2209. Seattle Times Co. v. Rhinehart discusses the sole purpose of discovery, to assist in preparation and trial, or settlement of litigated disputes, and concludes that such pretrial discovery is not traditionally a public source of information, Id. at 2207-2209. That case holds that a litigant does not have a First Amendment right to disseminate information gained through liberal discovery as permitted under the federal rules, that any First Amendment interest may be subordinated to other interests; Seattle Times does not specifically address the precise question presented here, whether the public has a right to attend the taking of a discovery deposition. However, the Supreme Court's observations and holdings that pretrial discovery is not a public source of information and that discovery is not a public component of a civil trial is clearly applicable here.

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